Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-2-2017

State v. Baxter Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44535

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Roy Ayers Baxter, Jr., was sentenced to a unified term of ten years, with two-and one-half years fixed, after he pled guilty to, and was convicted of, domestic violence. Prior to sentencing, Mr. Baxter filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea based largely on a post-plea communication the prosecutor had with the psychologist who performed Mr. Baxter's domestic violence evaluation, which led the psychologist to increase his assessment of Mr. Baxter's risk of reoffending from moderate to high. Based on this increased risk assessment, the prosecutor decided to recommend a rider rather than probation. Mr. Baxter contends the district court abused its discretion in denying his motion to withdraw his guilty plea because he met his burden of showing a just reason to withdraw his plea, which was rendered unknowing as a result of the post-plea change in his domestic violence evaluation, and the State did not make any showing that it would be prejudiced by the withdrawal of Mr. Baxter's guilty plea.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Baxter was involved in an altercation with his wife, who is the mother of two of his three children, on February 14, 2015. (Conf. Exs., pp.7-8.) Following a preliminary hearing, Mr. Baxter was charged by Information with felony domestic violence and violation of a no contact order. (R., pp.40, 41-42.) At a status conference on May 27, 2015, counsel for Mr. Baxter informed the district court that the parties had the outline of a plea agreement in place, but Mr. Baxter was going to obtain a domestic violence evaluation before deciding whether to plead guilty. (R., pp.72, 89.)

Mr. Baxter was evaluated by a licensed psychologist, Dr. Bill Arnold, who issued a Domestic Violence Evaluation Report on June 17, 2016. (Conf. Exs., pp.58, 238-45.) Based on his interview of Mr. Baxter and his review of the police reports and the transcript of the preliminary hearing, among other things, Dr. Arnold concluded Mr. Baxter presented a moderate risk to reoffend. (Conf. Exs., pp.238, 243, 244; R., p.89.) Counsel for Mr. Baxter shared a copy of Dr. Arnold's report with the prosecutor. (8/26/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.23-24; R., p.101.) The prosecutor expressed concerns about the report, but did not indicate she would not accept Dr. Arnold's conclusion that Mr. Baxter presented a moderate risk to reoffend. (8/26/16 Tr., p.6, Ls.5-11; R., p.89.)

Based on Dr. Arnold's conclusion that Mr. Baxter presented a moderate risk to reoffend, Mr. Baxter accepted a plea offer and entered into a written plea agreement on July 1, 2016. (8/26/16 Tr., p.6, Ls.12-14; R., pp.74-84, 89.) Pursuant to the plea agreement, Mr. Baxter agreed to plead guilty to felony domestic violence and, in exchange, the State agreed to dismiss a felony influencing charge and no contact order violations in this and other cases. (R., p.82; 7/1/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.12-24.) The State agreed that if Mr. Baxter was determined to present a high risk to reoffend on the domestic violence evaluation, it would recommend a unified sentence of ten years, with three years fixed, and with a period of retained jurisdiction. (7/1/16 Tr., p.5, L.25 – p.6, L.7; R., p.82.) However, if Mr. Baxter was determined to present less than a high risk to reoffend, it would recommend Mr. Baxter be placed on probation. (7/1/16 Tr., p.5, L.25 – p.6, L.7; R., p.82; R., p.82.) The district court accepted Mr. Baxter's guilty plea on July 1, 2016. (7/1/16 Tr., p19, Ls.18-25.)

On July 7, 2016, the prosecutor e-mailed Dr. Arnold to provide him with statements made by Mr. Baxter at the change of plea hearing. (R., pp.89, 102; 8/26/16 Tr., p.20, Ls.10-22.) The prosecutor wrote:

I am not sure if it will change the outcome of your report finding a risk level, but thought it would be important for you to know and consider. When telling the court what he did, he said he had been drinking all day and doing meth.¹ He said, ["One] thing led to another, and the next thing you know I backhanded her on the neck. Also in the scuffle with the neighbor, I did hit her in the arm, and she had a bruise.["]

(8/26/16 Tr., p.20, L.23 – p.21, L.6.) The prosecutor asked "if this has any impact on your finding of risk." (8/26/16 Tr., p.21, Ls.7-9.) Even though Dr. Arnold had a copy of the police reports and the preliminary hearing transcript at the time he evaluated Mr. Baxter, he issued an Addendum to Risk Ratings on July 8, 2016, stating that, based upon the "additional information" provided to him by the prosecutor, "Mr. Baxter now falls in the group of offenders who display a high risk of future violent offending." (Conf. Exs., p.58.) The prosecutor advised counsel for Mr. Baxter that she would recommend a rider instead of probation based on Dr. Arnold's new risk assessment. (R., p.89.)

Mr. Baxter filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea and supporting memorandum on August 16, 2016. (R., pp.94, 88-93.). Mr. Baxter argued, among other things, that "the prosecutor's intervention with Dr. Arnold after he entered his guilty plea rendered the plea agreement in this case meaningless."² (R., p.91.) The State filed an objection

¹ Though not central to the issue presented in this appeal, Mr. Baxter notes he did not admit at the change of plea hearing to using methamphetamine on the date of the offense. He stated that, on Valentine's weekend, he and his wife "were just out drinking and partying" but "[b]efore that, a couple days, it was actually out partying and doing meth." (7/1/16 Tr., p.14, Ls.13-18.)

² Mr. Baxter also argued he should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea because the State filed new charges against him prior to sentencing, which "ensured that he would never be legitimately considered for probation." (R., p.91.)

to Mr. Baxter's motion. (R., pp.98-108.) The district court denied Mr. Baxter's motion, concluding Mr. Baxter did not have a just reason to withdraw his guilty plea, which was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. (8/26/16 Tr., p.41, Ls.1-3, 17-19; R., pp.109-10.)

At sentencing, the State recommended a rider based in large part on Dr. Arnold's assessment that Mr. Baxter presented a high risk of reoffending. (9/23/16 Tr., p.33, L.12 – p.34, L.8.) Counsel for Mr. Baxter recommended a ten-year term of probation. (9/23/16 Tr., p.41, Ls.17-19.) The district court sentenced Mr. Baxter to a unified term of ten years, with two and one-half years fixed, and retained jurisdiction.³ (9/23/16 Tr., p.46, L.23 – p.47, L.16.) The district court did not place Mr. Baxter on probation. The judgment was entered on September 26, 2016, and Mr. Baxter filed a timely notice of appeal on September 28, 2016. (R., pp.112-15, 118-20.)

³ At sentencing, the district court granted the State's oral motion to consolidate this case with three other cases (CR-FE-2016-9176, CR-FE-2016-4713, and CR-MD-2016-5434). (9/23/16 Tr., p.27, Ls.14-19; R., pp.111, 116-17.) In CR-FE-2016-9176, the district court sentenced Mr. Baxter for fraudulent misappropriation of personal identifying information to a unified term of five years, with two years fixed, to be served concurrently to the sentence imposed in this case. (9/23/16 Tr., p.47, Ls.2-24.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Baxter's motion to withdraw his guilty plea?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Denying Mr. Baxter's Motion To Withdraw His Guilty Plea Because Mr. Baxter Met His Burden Of Showing A Just Reason To Withdraw His Guilty Plea, And The State Did Not Make Any Showing Of Prejudice

“Whether to grant a motion to withdraw a guilty plea lies in the discretion of the district court and such discretion should be liberally applied.” *State v. Hartsock*, 160 Idaho 640, ___, 377 P.3d 1102, 1103 (Ct. App. 2016). Where a defendant moves to withdraw a guilty plea before sentencing, the grant of such motion “is not an automatic right,” but “a less rigorous standard applies.” *State v. Williston*, 159 Idaho 215, 217 (Ct. App. 2015). In the pre-sentencing context, “the defendant has the burden of showing that a just reason exists to withdraw the plea.” *Id.* “Once the defendant has met this burden, the state may still avoid a withdrawal of the plea by demonstrating the existence of prejudice to the state.” *Id.* at 218; see also *State v. Johnson*, 120 Idaho 408, 411 (Ct. App. 1991) (stating “relief will be granted absent a strong showing of prejudice by the state”). When a trial court’s discretionary decision is reviewed on appeal, the appellate court conducts a multi-tiered inquiry to determine: (1) whether the lower court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the lower court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to the specific choices before it; and (3) whether the lower court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *State v. Hedger*, 115 Idaho 598, 600 (1989).

The district court did not reach its decision to deny Mr. Baxter’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea by an exercise of reason because Mr. Baxter met his burden of showing a just reason to withdraw his guilty plea and the State made no showing of

prejudice. Mr. Baxter obtained a domestic violence evaluation before deciding whether to plead guilty, and decided to plead guilty only after the evaluation was completed, and after the evaluator concluded he presented only a moderate risk to reoffend. Counsel for Mr. Baxter shared the domestic violence evaluation report with the prosecutor before Mr. Baxter decided to plead guilty. (8/26/16 Tr., p.5, Ls.23-24; R., p.101.) The prosecutor claimed Mr. Baxter made “gross omissions” to the domestic violence evaluator and did not accurately describe his substance use. In fact, after reviewing the report, the prosecutor informed defense counsel that she would not recommend a bond reduction lower than \$100,000 because of Mr. Baxter’s “gross omissions as to his conduct in the instant offense, as well as his misstatements regarding substance use.” (R., p.101.) But the prosecutor *did not* inform defense counsel that she would be challenging Dr. Arnold’s assessment of Mr. Baxter’s risk of reoffending. (8/26/16 Tr., p.6, Ls.5-11; R., p.89.) Mr. Baxter decided to plead guilty knowing the domestic violence evaluation had been completed, and with the understanding that the State would be recommending probation.

At the change of plea hearing, counsel for Mr. Baxter informed the district court that the domestic violence evaluation had been completed, and he had shared the report with the State, “so we don’t have to do that.” (7/1/16 Tr., p.7, Ls.21-23.) After the district court accepted Mr. Baxter’s guilty plea and was setting the matter for sentencing, counsel for Mr. Baxter stated, “Your Honor, it’s our hope that since the domestic violence evaluation has already been done, that we can set it more quickly.” (7/1/16 Tr., p.20, Ls.3-5.) The district court later said, “And you say you already have a domestic violence evaluation done, and you’ll submit that.” (7/1/16 Tr., p.21, Ls.1-2.)

Counsel responded, “I’ve submitted it to the state. We’ll make sure the presentence investigator gets a copy, or I could just send a copy to you and then we’re done with that I guess. Either way is fine by me.” (7/1/16 Tr., p.21, Ls.3-7.) At no point did the prosecutor state she was no longer satisfied with the domestic violence evaluation, or would be contacting Dr. Arnold to suggest changing the results of the evaluation, based on Mr. Baxter’s statements at the change of plea hearing.

Six days after the change of plea hearing, the prosecutor contacted Dr. Arnold to ask whether Mr. Baxter’s statements at the change of plea hearing—specifically concerning the nature of his offense and his methamphetamine use—had “any impact on your finding of risk.” (8/26/16 Tr., p.21, Ls.7-9.) Notably, Mr. Baxter’s statements at the change of plea hearing were consistent with the police reports and the testimony at the preliminary hearing, which the prosecutor knew of prior to entering into a plea agreement with Mr. Baxter, and which Dr. Arnold knew of when he evaluated Mr. Baxter. Nonetheless, Dr. Arnold concluded that, based on the additional information provided to him by the prosecutor, Mr. Baxter “now falls into the group of offenders who display a high risk of future violent offending.”⁴ (Conf. Exs., p.58.)

In its opposition to Mr. Baxter’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea, the State asserted in the district court that “there is a significant likelihood that the filing of the Defendant’s motion is linked to the pre-sentence investigation’s less than flattering assessment of the Defendant.” (R., p.106.) Mr. Baxter recognizes that a district court may temper the liberal treatment normally afforded to a presentence motion to withdraw

⁴ Dr. Baxter qualified his conclusion somewhat by stating Mr. Baxter is in “the marginally high risk range for future violence” meaning “he was placed low within the normative group placed in the high risk range.” (Conf. Exs., p.57.)

a guilty plea where the defendant's apparent motive is to avoid what he perceives to be the probable sentence based on the presentence investigation report or other information. See *Hartsock*, 377 P.3d at 1104. However, there is simply no indication that Mr. Baxter moved to withdraw his guilty plea in this case because of the presentence investigator's recommendation for a rider. At the hearing on Mr. Baxter's motion, counsel for Mr. Baxter told the district court Mr. Baxter "never would have pled guilty to a rider offer." (8/26/16 Tr., p.15, Ls.12-13.) The district court asked defense counsel whether he would withdraw the motion if the prosecutor agreed to recommend probation, and he answered, "Yes," but the prosecutor said she was not willing to recommend probation. (8/26/16 Tr., p.16, Ls.13-17; p.27, Ls.10-13.)

When Mr. Baxter entered into a plea agreement with the State and pled guilty to domestic violence, he understood the State would recommend probation based on the already completed domestic violence evaluation. Mr. Baxter knew the State's sentencing recommendation would not be binding on the district court, but it was still the critical factor in his decision to plead guilty. This Court has recognized that, before sentencing, the inconvenience to the court and prosecution resulting from a change of plea is usually slight compared to protecting the right of the accused to trial by jury. *State v. Hawkins*, 117 Idaho 285, 291 (1990); *Johnson*, 120 Idaho at 415. Here, the State never argued it would be prejudiced by the withdrawal of Mr. Baxter's guilty plea. The district court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Baxter's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Baxter respectfully requests that this Court vacate his conviction, reverse the district court's denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea, and remand this case to the district court for further proceedings.