Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-1-2017

State v. Baxter Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44535

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Roy Ayers Baxter, Jr., appeals from his judgment of conviction for domestic violence. On appeal, he asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his motion to withdraw his guilty plea.

Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

On February 14, 2016, after using methamphetamine and drinking alcohol most of the day, Baxter violently attacked his wife, punching her throat and leaving bruises on her arms. (7/1/2016 Tr., p.14, L.11 – p.17, L.22.) The state charged Baxter with domestic violence and the violation of a no contact order. (R., pp.41-42.) The state later proffered a plea agreement under which, in exchange for Baxter's guilty plea to the domestic violence charge, it would recommend a rider if a domestic violence evaluation showed that Baxter was a high risk to reoffend, and probation if the evaluation showed less than a high risk to reoffend. (R., pp.82-84; 7/1/2016 Tr., p.5, L.12 – p.6, L.7.)

Prior to accepting the plea agreement, Baxter got a privately-retained evaluation. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.5, Ls.1-9.) Baxter's pre-plea evaluation classified him as a moderate to high risk to reoffend. (PSI, pp.44-51; 8/26/2016 Tr., p.5, Ls.14-18.) With the less-than-high risk evaluation, Baxter pleaded guilty to domestic violence. (7/1/2016 Tr., p.19, Ls.14-17.) But it was later discovered that Baxter was not entirely forthcoming in this pre-plea evaluation. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.18, L.22 – p.20, L.3.) The prosecutor supplemented the information Baxter had originally presented to his privately-retained evaluator with statements he had made during his plea colloquy and asked if that new information had any impact on the evaluator's findings. (See 8/26/2016 Tr., p.20, L.13 –

p.21, L.9.) After taking into consideration the additional information, the evaluator reclassified Baxter as a high risk to reoffend. (PSI, pp.57-58)

In the meantime, a presentence investigation was completed and received by Baxter. (PSI, pp.6-23; 8/26/2016 Tr., p.37, Ls.18-20.) The presentence investigation recommended a rider. (PSI, pp.21-22.) And, “shortly before sentencing,” Baxter was charged with fraud in an unrelated felony case. (PSI, p.12; see also 8/26/2016 Tr., p.12, Ls.8-23; p.23, L.17 – p.24, L.20; R. p.90.)

Baxter then filed a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (R., pp.87-94.) Weighing Baxter’s apparent motive in seeking to withdraw his guilty plea, the district court determined that Baxter had failed to show just cause to withdraw the plea and denied his motion. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.37, L.18 – p.41, L.19.) The district court subsequently entered judgement against Baxter and sentenced him to a unified term of ten years with two and a half years fixed, and retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.112-14.) Baxter filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.118-19.)

ISSUE

Baxter states the issue on appeal as:

Did the district court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Baxter's motion to withdraw his guilty plea?

(Appellant's brief, p.5.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Baxter failed to show that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his motion to withdraw his guilty plea?

ARGUMENT

Baxter Has Failed To Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied His Motion To Withdraw His Guilty Plea

A. Introduction

Baxter argues that the district court abused its discretion by denying his presentencing motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-10.) A review of the record and the applicable law, however, supports the district court's determination that Baxter failed to carry his burden of establishing a just reason entitling him to withdraw his plea. Baxter has failed to show an abuse of the district court's discretion.

B. Standard Of Review

Appellate review of the denial of a motion to withdraw a plea is limited to determining whether the district court exercised sound judicial discretion, as distinguished from arbitrary action. State v. Dopp, 124 Idaho 481, 483, 861 P.2d 51, 53 (1993). An appellate court will defer to the trial court's factual findings if they are supported by substantial competent evidence. State v. Holland, 135 Idaho 159, 15 P.3d 1167 (2000).

C. Baxter Failed To Show Either That His Guilty Plea Was Invalid Or That There Existed Any Other Just Reason For Withdrawing His Guilty Plea

Under Idaho Criminal Rule 33(c), a motion to withdraw a guilty plea may be made before sentence is imposed. The presentence withdrawal of a guilty plea is not an automatic right, however. State v. Carrasco, 117 Idaho 295, 298, 787 P.2d 281, 284 (1990); State v. Hanslovan, 147 Idaho 530, 535, 211 P.3d 775, 780 (Ct. App. 2008).

The defendant bears the burden of proving, in the district court, that the plea should be withdrawn. Hanslovan, 147 Idaho at 535, 211 P.3d at 780.

In ruling on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the district court must determine, as a threshold matter, whether the plea was entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. State v. Mauro, 121 Idaho 178, 180, 824 P.2d 109, 111 (1991). As the Court of Appeals has recently recognized:

[T]he determination that a plea is entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily involves a three-part inquiry: (1) whether the defendant's plea was voluntary in the sense that he or she understood the nature of the charges and was not coerced; (2) whether the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his or her rights to a jury trial, to confront his or her accusers, and to refrain from self-incrimination; and (3) whether the defendant understood the consequences of pleading guilty.

State v. Williston, 159 Idaho 215, 218, 358 P.3d 776, 779 (Ct. App. 2015) (citations omitted).

If the plea was constitutionally valid, then the court must determine whether other reasons exist to allow the defendant to withdraw the plea. Mauro, 121 Idaho at 180, 824 P.2d at 111. When the motion to withdraw is made prior to sentencing, the defendant must present a just reason for withdrawing the plea. Hanslovan, 147 Idaho at 535, 211 P.3d at 780. “[T]he good faith, credibility, and weight of the defendant's assertions in support of his motion to withdraw his plea are matters for the trial court to decide.” Id. at 537, 211 P.3d at 782. Moreover, where the defendant moves to withdraw his guilty plea before sentencing but after he has read his presentence report or received other information about his probable sentence, the court is to exercise broad discretion, but may temper its liberality by weighing the defendant's apparent motive. State v. Arthur, 145 Idaho 219, 222, 177 P.3d 966, 969 (2008). Ultimately, the decision

to grant or deny a motion to withdraw a guilty plea lies in the discretion of the district court. Hanslovan, 147 Idaho at 535, 211 P.3d at 780.

The district court first determined that Baxter's guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary: The plea colloquy showed that he understood the nature of the charges and was not coerced into pleading guilty; it showed that he knowingly and intelligently waived his rights to a jury trial, to confront accusers, and to refrain from self-incrimination; and it showed that he understood the consequences of pleading guilty, because he knew that the trial court ultimately had discretion to impose any sentence allowed by law irrespective of the parties' recommendations. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.36, L.12 – p.37, L.17.) The district court then determined that Baxter had failed to show just reason to withdraw his guilty plea, especially in light of his apparent motive for withdrawing his plea after receiving the presentence investigation report and being charged with a new crime in an unrelated case. (Id., p.37, L.18 – p.38, L.17; p.40, Ls.5-17.) Finally, the district court exercised its discretion and denied Baxter's motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (Id., p.41, Ls.17-19.)

On appeal, Baxter asserts that the district court "did not reach its decision to deny [his] motion to withdraw his guilty plea by an exercise of reason because Mr. Baxter met his burden of showing a just reason to withdraw his guilty plea and the State made no showing of prejudice." (Appellant's brief, pp.6-9.) Even assuming a lack of prejudice to the state, Baxter's argument still fails. As found by the district court and shown above, Baxter failed to present a just reason for withdrawing his guilty plea. The defendant's failure to present and support a plausible reason, even in the absence of prejudice to the state, dictates against granting withdrawal. Dopp, 124 Idaho at 485, 861 P.2d at 55.

Ultimately, Baxter's argument is that he pleaded guilty believing that the state would be bound to recommend probation; when it became apparent that the state would not be so bound and would instead recommend a rider, he wanted to withdraw that guilty plea. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-9.) First, under the facts of this case, that is certainly not a just reason for withdrawing the guilty plea. Second, Baxter's supposed reason does not appear wholly supported by the record.

As he did below, Baxter asserts that he only pleaded guilty because the state agreed to recommend probation if a domestic violence evaluation concluded that he was less than a high risk to reoffend, and (unbeknownst to the state) Baxter had already gotten a domestic violence evaluation from Dr. Arnold that concluded he was less than a high risk to reoffend. (Appellant's brief, pp.6-9; see also 8/26/2016 Tr., p.5, L.1 – p.6, L.14; R., p.82.) But Dr. Arnold's evaluation was based on incomplete information, because Baxter was not forthcoming with the evaluator. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.18, L.22 – p.20, L.3.) Because of Baxter's omissions during the evaluation, Dr. Arnold was unaware of basic information like Baxter's drug usage and involvement of substance abuse in the incident, both of which are necessary under the rules to complete a domestic violence evaluation. See I.C.R. 33.3(c)(3). The state therefore supplemented the information considered by Dr. Arnold with the admissions Baxter had made during his plea colloquy. (8/26/2016 Tr., p.20, L.13 – p.21, L.9.) In light of that new information, Dr. Arnold revised his evaluation, reclassifying Baxter as a high risk to reoffend on July 8, 2016. (PSI, pp.57-58.)

Though the state was now no longer bound to recommend probation, Baxter did not immediately file a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. First, new charges in an

unrelated case were filed against Baxter on July 18. (PSI, p.12; 8/26/216 Tr., p.23, L.24 – p.24, L.3.) Under the plea agreement, even had the evaluation remained unchanged, this alone would have released the state from its obligations. (See R., p.83 (“The State’s offer is conditioned upon ... Defendant not acquiring a new criminal charge or charges between the date of this offer and sentencing...” and, if Baxter failed to meet that condition, “the State is not bound to make the sentencing recommendation as outlined above....”).) Then, on August 5, the presentence investigation report was filed (see PSI p.6), giving Baxter the opportunity to review the report. That report was not entirely favorable. (See PSI, pp.6-23.) Then, for the first time on August 12, Baxter’s trial counsel stated that Baxter would be filing a motion to withdraw his guilty plea. (R., p.87.) Baxter’s motion was filed on August 16. (R., p.94.)

The district court was correct that Baxter’s claim that he wanted to withdraw his guilty plea because Dr. Arnold (when given all the information necessary to complete a domestic violence evaluation under the criminal rules) reclassified him as a high risk to reoffend does not entitle him to withdraw his guilty plea. The district court was also correct to consider the timing of Baxter’s motion, which was only filed after he had the opportunity to review his presentence report and new criminal charges had been filed against him. Considering all of the circumstances of this case, the apparent motive for Baxter’s motion to withdraw his guilty plea was simply buyer’s remorse, and buyer’s remorse does not show a just reason to withdraw a guilty plea. The district court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order denying Baxter's motion to withdraw his guilty plea.